### The Effects of Wife's Employment on Marital Relations and Psychological Well-Being Among Mexican-American Males

by Cruz C. Torres Univ. of Texas-Pan American

Research Report No. 25

December 1997

## The Effects of Wife's Employment on Marital Relations and Psychological Well-Being Among Mexican-American Males

by Cruz C. Torres Univ. of Texas-Pan American

#### Research Report No. 25

December 1997

#### **ABSTRACT**

Data from the 1979 National Chicano Survey were analyzed using a path analysis model to examine the effects of wife's employment on the psychological well-being of Mexican-American men. Three hypotheses were examined. First, Mexican-American husbands whose wives are employed will not provide more help with household chores than their counterparts whose wives are not employed. Second, Mexican-American males who provide more help with household chores will report lower levels of marital satisfaction. Third, Mexican-American husbands whose wives are employed, who help more with household chores, and who report lower levels of marital satisfaction will experience higher levels of depression. The results show limited support for the model. While Mexican-American husbands do contribute more to household chores when their wives are employed, this participation is not significantly related to the level of marital satisfaction or the levels of depression.

#### **About the Author:** Cruz Coronado Torres

Dr. Cruz Coronado Torres is an associate professor at the University of Texas, Pan-American. She earned her Ph.D. in Philosophy at Texas A&M University, College Station in 1987. She earned both her Masters (in Interdisciplinary Studies) and her Bachelor's (summa cum laude) from Loredo State University. Her areas of specialization are psychology, sociology, and history.

In addition to her current assignment, Dr. Torres has been an assistant professor at the University of Colorado, Denver, and a visiting assistant professor at Texas A&M.





Michigan State University East Lansing, Michigan Julian Samora Research Institute Refugio I. Rochín, Director Danny Layne, Layout Editor

#### SUGGESTED CITATION

Torres, Cruz C., *The Effects of Wife's Employment on Marital Relations and Psychological Well-Being Among Mexican-American Males*, <u>JSRI Research Report</u> #25 The Julian Samora Research Institute, Michigan State University, East Lansing, Michigan, 1997.

The Julian Samora Research Institute is committed to the generation, transmission, and application of knowledge to serve the needs of Latino communities in the Midwest. To this end, it has organized a number of publication initiatives to facilitate the timely dissemination of current research and information relevant to Latinos. The Julian Samora Research Institute Research Report Series (RR) publishes monograph length reports of original empirical research on Latinos in the nation conducted by the Institute's faculty affiliates and research associates, and/or projects funded by grants to the Institute.

# The Effects of Wife's Employment on Marital Relations and Psychological Well-Being Among Mexican-American Males

## Table of Contents

Introduction	1
Working Chicanas, Mexican-American Families and Social Science Theory	1
Methods	3
Exogenous Variables	3
Endogenous Variables	4
Statistical Techniques	6
Findings	6
Reduced Model	8
Discussion	8
References	9
Endnotes	12

## The Effects of Wife's Employment on Marital Relations and Psychological Well-Being Among Mexican-American Males

#### Introduction

The participation of married women in the labor force has increased dramatically and contemporary social changes (e.g., increased education and economic conditions) promise this trend will continue. As a result, numerous studies have focused on two-job families and the stress experienced by working women and their dependent children. Despite the fact that having a working wife will invariably alter the life-style of most husbands, research on the effects of wife's employment on men has been neglected (Perrucci et al., 1978). Some notable exceptions include Booth (1979), Burke and Weir (1976), and Keith et al., (1981), who focused on the strain of two-job families on men. These studies however do not include Mexican-American men. Research specific to the effect of wife's employment status on Mexican-American males is negligible. Thus the focus of this study.

Increased education and industrialization along with the reality that in today's economy a second income is not an option but a necessity, has resulted in an increase in Chicana participation in the labor force. The 1980 census indicates 53% of Mexican-American women with children between the ages of 6 and 17 are in the labor force (U.S. Bureau of the Census 1983). Research on two-job Mexican-American families and the effects labor force participation has on their families, though limited, has recently enjoyed some attention (Cooney, 1984; Shannon and McKim, 1974; Snipp and Tienda, 1984; Williams, 1990; Melville, 1988). These studies focus on the effect paid employment has on the family (Ybarra, 1982) and on working women (Roberts and Roberts, 1982; Ross et al., 1983b; Saenz et al., 1989). Yet, the principle focus has been women, relatively little attention has been given to the effect wife's labor force participation has on traditional male/female family roles and the effect working wives have on Mexican-American males.

Even though women appear to benefit when they participate in a "man's" world of paid employment, men should not be expected to experience the same level of comfort in cross-sex tasks. Therefore, it cannot be assumed that the effects of wife's labor force participation have the same psychological effect on both spouses. On the contrary, the logical expectation is that men will experience higher levels of psychological discomfort because of the low prestige accorded feminine. The effects may be especially salient for Mexican-American

males. Baca Zinn (1980a) suggests being "hombre" (with all its implications) may have greater meaning to Chicanos, because they have fewer sources of social identity.

Obviously many basic questions remain unexplored. For example, do Mexican-American males, whose wives work outside the home, share a greater division of non-traditional household tasks? What effect, if any, does this participation have on marital satisfaction? On the psychological well-being of Mexican-American males? Do Mexican-American males with "traditional" housewives report lower levels of depression than those with working wives?

Lack of empirical research focused on male/female roles within the Chicano community serves to promulgate the myths and misconceptions relative to machismo and female submissiveness in the Chicano community. By examining married Mexican-American males throughout the five Southwestern states and the Chicago metropolitan area, this study explores the implications Chicana participation in the labor force has on 1) spouses level of participation in nontraditional household tasks, 2) marital satisfaction, and 3) mental well-being. The following analysis of Mexican-American males is intended to ascertain whether the relationship between certain variables and mental well-being observed in previous non-Mexican-American population studies are confirmed or reversed for male members of a purportedly "traditional" ethnic group.

# Working Chicanas, Mexican-American Families and Social Science Theory

Even though, Chicanas have worked outside the home since pre-Colonial times (Pescatello, 1976:126), the idealist view claims it is not "culturally correct" for Mexicanas to work outside the home; that men of "class" are the family's sole supporter. Mexican-American women working outside the home is still considered normatively optional, not universal. The Chicana "housewife" stereotype persists. This version of traditional Mexican-American culture depicts a value system with traditional sex role orientations which has positive psychological well-being for men under "normal" circumstances and precludes male endorsement of spouses entry into the labor market (Melville, 1988).



The socialization-ideology hypothesis (Stafford et al., 1977) would suggest Chicanos' familism and patriarchal orientation ideally prefers complementary marriages that stringently hinder women's mobility into the paid labor force. If however, they have moved into the pattern of paid employment for the wife, socialization theory predicts Mexican-American males are not likely to participate in nontraditional household tasks. Furthermore, the wife's participation in the labor force will have more negative effects on marital satisfaction and mental well-being of the husband. According to this perspective, wife's employment will reflect negatively on the Mexican-American male. It will reflect his inability to provide and this will engender self-doubt and low self-esteem (Ross, 1983b).

For women, increased labor force participation increases expectations for a more egalitarian division of household tasks with spouse. Indeed research indicates women's employment provides a more equitable division of labor (Blood and Wolfe, 1960; Pleck, 1979). These findings hold for Mexican-American working women (Hawkes and Taylor, 1975; Baca Zinn, 1980b). Ybarra (1988) found Chicanas employed outside the home expect and usually get greater participation from their husbands relative to household chores. However, Amaro et al. (1987) reports that Chicanas married to Hispanic males receive less help from their partners than Chicanas married to non-Hispanic males.

This supports other research findings which indicate Mexican-American males hold more traditional views on values and norms relative to sex roles. Norms and values which are in conflict with career orientations for women (Hartzler and Franco, 1985). In contrast to the egalitarian expectations of working Mexican-American women, Mexican-American males lag behind female counterparts in their views about the appropriateness of egalitarian male/female roles and are more likely to retain traditional sex role behaviors (Hawley and Even, 1982). Problems of normative issues arise, e.g. expectations that Mexican-American males behave in socially approved ways (Heckman et al., 1977). But whose socially approved behavior? Irrespective of this basic argument, Ortiz and Cooney (1984) suggest traditional beliefs do not necessarily translate into behavior patterns. Thus the need for empirical verification.

Whether assistance with household tasks is forthcoming from their spouse or not, working wives do report concern that their working has negative effects on family life. For the husband, negative consequences cited in the literature include: loss of power, loss of the endogenous support system, and role overload. Given the previous discussion, the literature would indicate that for Mexican-American males, conflict between traditional sex role behavior and egalitarian sex role expectations should be a further consideration. Changes in traditional sex roles (e.g. working wives), according to Rosenfield (1980), imply a relative loss of power for males. Loss of power in turn can result in a loss of self-esteem. Furthermore, powerlessness and low self-esteem have been associated with higher levels of psychological stress (Wheaton, 1980; Ross, Mirowsky, and Crockerham, 1983).

On the other hand, Keith et al. (1981) report male self-esteem is independent of involvement of household tasks and wife's occupational status. However, this study focuses on older married men. Effects may differ in younger males. Markides and Vernon (1984) also found the effects of traditional sex role attitudes to be age specific. Specifically, traditional sex role attitudes had negative psychological effects on middle-aged and older men, but had no effect on the younger males. Gonzalez (1988) found that Chicano males, like the males in Keith et al.'s (1981) study, were not threatened by their wives' accomplishments.

Role overload theory (Rapaport and Rapaport, 1978) indicates stress occurs when individuals are required to fulfill multiple (e.g., work and family) roles. Empirical research provides inconclusive evidence. On the one hand, research indicates women accrue the positive effects (e.g. the privileges) of paid employment, which decrease or neutralize the negative effects of role overload. On the other hand, for males role overload occurs in the opposite direction. Males accrue extra responsibilities, not the privileges, of the extra roles. As a matter of fact, most studies on working women and division of household tasks indicate a small increase in husbands' participation in household tasks (Blood and Wolfe, 1960; Oakley, 1974; Ericksen, et al. 1979; Scanzoni and Fox, 1980). Men are asked to increase their performance responsibilities (Sieber, 1974) while participating in low prestige non-paid "feminine" household chores (Oakley, 1974). Consequently, rather than neutralize the negative "overload" effects, this type of activities are likely to increase stress, marital dissatisfaction, and produce higher levels of psychological anxiety.

Indeed studies by Burke and Weir (1976) and Bean, Curtis, and Marcum (1977) report lower marital satisfaction for men when wives' participate in the labor force. This may be due to the loss of the support system or increased participation in household tasks. However, the



findings in these studies appear to be class-based rather than ethnic-based. Furthermore, the research findings are inclusive. Welch and Booth (1977) and Booth (1979) found little difference in the level of marital satisfaction and stress experienced by husbands of working and nonworking wives. In another study, Gove and Geerken (1977) found the relationship between wife's employment and marital satisfaction was affected by children at home.

Research linking on the employment status of the wife and the psychological well-being of men also provide inconclusive findings (Booth, 1979; Gove and Geerken, 1977; Rosenfield, 1980; Keith and Schafer, 1982). Rosenfield (1980) and Kessler and McRae (1982) found when the wife is employed men manifest more symptoms of psychological distress. However, the authors suggest future research should include measures of division of labor in household tasks in order to better understand the dynamics at work. Burke and Weir (1976) speculate that men who participate in "feminine" household tasks will experience decreased psychological wellbeing because these tasks are of low status compared to their normal work tasks. Keith and Schafer (1980, 1982) found married men, whose wives worked outside the home, had greater involvement in "feminine" tasks, which in turn was related to greater depression. The effects, however, were found to be benign. Looking at dual career marriages, Stanfield (1985) concludes dual careers are stressful on both partners. Yet studies by Ross et al. (1983b) and Roberts and O'Keefe (1981) have found no relationship between working wives and level of psychological distress in men. Of these studies only Kessler and McRae (1982) used a national sample and none focused on the Mexican-American population.

In view of the literature review several hypotheses will be examined. First, Mexican-American males will provide working wives more help with household chores. Second, men who provide more help with household chores will report lower levels of marital satisfaction. Finally, those males who report working wives, helping their wives with household chores and lower levels of marital satisfaction will experience higher levels of depression.

#### **Methods**

The 1979 Chicano Survey provided the data to examine the proposed research questions. This survey was conducted by Carlos Arce under the auspices of the Institute for Social Research of the University of Michigan. To date it is the most comprehensive social, economic,

and psychological data set about Mexican-Americans. The statistically representative probability sample of Mexican ancestry households was drawn from five southwestern states: Arizona, California, Colorado, New Mexico, and Texas. Also included was the Chicago metropolitan area. An estimated 90% of the Mexican-ancestry population living in the United States in 1979 is included in these regions (Arce, 1985).

Nearly 11,000 households were screened, of these 1,300 were of Mexican-ancestry (e.g., primary provider or spouse had at least two of the four grandparents who were of Mexican ancestry). Interviews (991) were conducted in either English or Spanish, depending on respondent's choice by bilingual interviewers. For this study I use the completed data of 322 men who were living with their spouses at the time of the survey.

#### **Exogenous Variables**

The path model has seven exogenous variables, six serve as control variables. These are predictor variables for three endogenous variables: 1) nontraditional division of labor, 2) marital satisfaction, and 3) depression. Table 1 presents summary statistics for all the variables used in this analysis. Wife's employment status (working/nonworking at time of interview) was the exogenous variable of primary interest. Adummy variable measured employment status, employed wives received a value of 1 and others were assigned a value of 0 (43.5% of the wives were working in 1979).

The other six control variables were included based on previous research which shows a relationship between these variables and the endogenous variables. First, age is the respondent's age on last birthday, average age for men being almost 40 years old. Second, education is the number of years of school completed; men averaged slightly more than 8 years of schooling. Third, relative years of education is the man's years of education divided by his wife's years of education. The men averaged about 1.6 years of education for every 1 year completed by their wives. Fourth, number of children in the household is the number of children under 18 living at home (average 1.9). Fifth, family income is the total 1978 family income (average approximately \$10,100). Finally, health status is a summative index composed of six items often associated with ill health. Respondents were asked how often they have experienced shortness of breath, dizzy spells, heart beating hard, hand trembling enough to bother you, taken medicines or drugs when tense or worried or ner-



Table 1: Means, Standard Deviations, and Ranges for Variables in this Study (n = 322)

		Standard	Rai	nge
Variable	Mean	Deviation	Low	High
Wife's Employment Status*	43.5	_	_	_
Age	39.9	14.0	19	80
Education	8.4	4.8	0	22
Relative Education	1.6	2.4	.1	20
Number of Children	1.9	1.7	0	7
Family Income**	10.1	3.9	1	16
Health Status	21.2	3.1	.0	24
Nontraditional Division				
of Housework	12.9	5.4	4	36
Marital Satisfaction	11.8	3.2	5	20
Depression	12.8	3.7	6	24

\*Refers to the percentage of married women who were employed at the time of the survey.

\*\*Family income is measured in 16 income categories: Mean Income: approximately \$10,100.

vous, ill health affected amount of work. A four-point scale allowed respondents to select from a range of "never" to "many times." Factor analysis provided the items for this scale (standardized item alpha reliabilities of 0.76). Higher scores on the health status scale indicate better health (possible range: 6 to 24). See Table 2 for items used to create the different summative scales and their standardized item alpha reliabilities.

#### **Endogenous Variables**

There are three endogenous variables in the model. Two (nontraditional division of labor and marital satisfaction) are considered intervening variables in the relationship between the exogenous variables and depression. Both variables are summative scales. Marital satisfaction includes five items in which husbands are asked to evaluate their satisfaction with wife's level of communication and the degree of conflicts experienced by the couple. On a 4-point scale ranging from "many times" to "never" men were asked to indicate how often they felt irritated with their wife's behavior, the frequency of arguments, and how often they wished their wives were more responsive (talked more about their feelings; understood them better; wished wife was more aware of his feelings). The standardized item alpha reliability is 0.76 (see Table 2). Higher scores indicate higher levels of marital satisfaction (possible range: 5 to 20).

Nontraditional division of labor consists of a three item scale which ask the respondents who generally does certain household tasks (cooking, laundry, and dish washing) and who does them when the person indicated is unable to. Possible responses from a 9-point scale ranged from "wife performed the activity all of the time" to "husband performed the activity all of the time". The standardized item alpha reliability is 0.78. Higher scores (possible range: 3-27) are indicative of a nontraditional division of labor.

Finally, depression is a summative scale which includes six items asking people the frequency with which they experienced different symptoms frequently associated with depression (felt very alone; felt down; low in spirits; personal worries affected you physically; felt sad; felt lonely even among friends; felt bored). Several of these items are the same as those used in the Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression (CES-D) Scale, however the items included in this study do not ask individuals to report the number of days in the last week that they experienced the different symptoms. The standardized item alpha reliability is 0.81 (see Table 2). Higher scores (possible range: 4 to 24) indicate higher levels of depression.



## Table 2: Alpha Coefficients and Scale Items for the Four Summative Scales Composed of Multiple Items Factor

Scales and Items	Factor Loadings
Health Status	
Ill health affected amount of work	
Bothered by shortness of breath	
Bothered by heart beating hard	
Hands trembling enough to bother	
Took medicine/drugs when tense, worried or nervous	
Standardized item alpha reliability	0.76
Nontraditional Division of Houswork	
Cooking	0.65
Laundry	0.78
Washing dishes	0.79
Standardized item alpha reliability	0.78
Marital Satisfaction	
Felt irritated with wife's behavior	
Wished wife talked more about feelings	
Had arguments with wife	
Wished wife understook you better	
Wished wife more aware of your needs	
Standardized item alpha reliability	0.76
Depression	
Felt very alone	0.55
Felt down, low in spirits	0.72
Personal worries affected you physically	0.50
Felt sad	0.71
Felt lonely, even among friends	0.71
Felt bored	0.64
Standardized item alpha reliablity	0.80
	Standardized Item
C 1 17	
Scales and Items	Alpha Coefficient
Health Status	
Ill health affected amount of work	
Bothered by shortness of breath	
Bothered by heart beating hard	
Bothered by heart beating hard Hands trembling enough to bother	
Bothered by heart beating hard Hands trembling enough to bother Took medicine/drugs when tense, worried or nervous	
Bothered by heart beating hard Hands trembling enough to bother	0.76
Bothered by heart beating hard Hands trembling enough to bother Took medicine/drugs when tense, worried or nervous  Standardized item alpha reliability	0.76
Bothered by heart beating hard Hands trembling enough to bother Took medicine/drugs when tense, worried or nervous  Standardized item alpha reliability  Nontraditional Division of Houswork	0.76
Bothered by heart beating hard Hands trembling enough to bother Took medicine/drugs when tense, worried or nervous  Standardized item alpha reliability  Nontraditional Division of Houswork Cooking	0.76
Bothered by heart beating hard Hands trembling enough to bother Took medicine/drugs when tense, worried or nervous  Standardized item alpha reliability  Nontraditional Division of Houswork Cooking Laundry	0.76
Bothered by heart beating hard Hands trembling enough to bother Took medicine/drugs when tense, worried or nervous  Standardized item alpha reliability  Nontraditional Division of Houswork Cooking Laundry Washing dishes	
Bothered by heart beating hard Hands trembling enough to bother Took medicine/drugs when tense, worried or nervous  Standardized item alpha reliability  Nontraditional Division of Houswork Cooking Laundry	0.76
Bothered by heart beating hard Hands trembling enough to bother Took medicine/drugs when tense, worried or nervous  Standardized item alpha reliability  Nontraditional Division of Houswork Cooking Laundry Washing dishes  Standardized item alpha reliability	
Bothered by heart beating hard Hands trembling enough to bother Took medicine/drugs when tense, worried or nervous  Standardized item alpha reliability  Nontraditional Division of Houswork Cooking Laundry Washing dishes  Standardized item alpha reliability  Marital Satisfaction	
Bothered by heart beating hard Hands trembling enough to bother Took medicine/drugs when tense, worried or nervous  Standardized item alpha reliability  Nontraditional Division of Houswork Cooking Laundry Washing dishes  Standardized item alpha reliability  Marital Satisfaction Felt irritated with wife's behavior	
Bothered by heart beating hard Hands trembling enough to bother Took medicine/drugs when tense, worried or nervous  Standardized item alpha reliability  Nontraditional Division of Houswork Cooking Laundry Washing dishes  Standardized item alpha reliability  Marital Satisfaction Felt irritated with wife's behavior Wished wife talked more about feelings	
Bothered by heart beating hard Hands trembling enough to bother Took medicine/drugs when tense, worried or nervous  Standardized item alpha reliability  Nontraditional Division of Houswork Cooking Laundry Washing dishes  Standardized item alpha reliability  Marital Satisfaction Felt irritated with wife's behavior Wished wife talked more about feelings Had arguments with wife	
Bothered by heart beating hard Hands trembling enough to bother Took medicine/drugs when tense, worried or nervous  Standardized item alpha reliability  Nontraditional Division of Houswork Cooking Laundry Washing dishes  Standardized item alpha reliability  Marital Satisfaction Felt irritated with wife's behavior Wished wife talked more about feelings Had arguments with wife Wished wife understook you better	
Bothered by heart beating hard Hands trembling enough to bother Took medicine/drugs when tense, worried or nervous  Standardized item alpha reliability  Nontraditional Division of Houswork Cooking Laundry Washing dishes  Standardized item alpha reliability  Marital Satisfaction Felt irritated with wife's behavior Wished wife talked more about feelings Had arguments with wife	
Bothered by heart beating hard Hands trembling enough to bother Took medicine/drugs when tense, worried or nervous  Standardized item alpha reliability  Nontraditional Division of Houswork Cooking Laundry Washing dishes  Standardized item alpha reliability  Marital Satisfaction Felt irritated with wife's behavior Wished wife talked more about feelings Had arguments with wife Wished wife understook you better Wished wife more aware of your needs  Standardized item alpha reliability	0.78
Bothered by heart beating hard Hands trembling enough to bother Took medicine/drugs when tense, worried or nervous  Standardized item alpha reliability  Nontraditional Division of Houswork Cooking Laundry Washing dishes  Standardized item alpha reliability  Marital Satisfaction Felt irritated with wife's behavior Wished wife talked more about feelings Had arguments with wife Wished wife understook you better Wished wife more aware of your needs  Standardized item alpha reliability  Depression	0.78
Bothered by heart beating hard Hands trembling enough to bother Took medicine/drugs when tense, worried or nervous  Standardized item alpha reliability  Nontraditional Division of Houswork Cooking Laundry Washing dishes  Standardized item alpha reliability  Marital Satisfaction Felt irritated with wife's behavior Wished wife talked more about feelings Had arguments with wife Wished wife understook you better Wished wife more aware of your needs  Standardized item alpha reliability  Depression Felt very alone	0.78
Bothered by heart beating hard Hands trembling enough to bother Took medicine/drugs when tense, worried or nervous  Standardized item alpha reliability  Nontraditional Division of Houswork Cooking Laundry Washing dishes  Standardized item alpha reliability  Marital Satisfaction Felt irritated with wife's behavior Wished wife talked more about feelings Had arguments with wife Wished wife understook you better Wished wife more aware of your needs  Standardized item alpha reliability  Depression Felt very alone Felt down, low in spirits	0.78
Bothered by heart beating hard Hands trembling enough to bother Took medicine/drugs when tense, worried or nervous  Standardized item alpha reliability  Nontraditional Division of Houswork Cooking Laundry Washing dishes  Standardized item alpha reliability  Marital Satisfaction Felt irritated with wife's behavior Wished wife talked more about feelings Had arguments with wife Wished wife understook you better Wished wife more aware of your needs  Standardized item alpha reliability  Depression Felt very alone Felt down, low in spirits Personal worries affected you physically	0.78
Bothered by heart beating hard Hands trembling enough to bother Took medicine/drugs when tense, worried or nervous  Standardized item alpha reliability  Nontraditional Division of Houswork Cooking Laundry Washing dishes  Standardized item alpha reliability  Marital Satisfaction Felt irritated with wife's behavior Wished wife talked more about feelings Had arguments with wife Wished wife understook you better Wished wife more aware of your needs  Standardized item alpha reliability  Depression Felt very alone Felt down, low in spirits Personal worries affected you physically Felt sad	0.78
Bothered by heart beating hard Hands trembling enough to bother Took medicine/drugs when tense, worried or nervous  Standardized item alpha reliability  Nontraditional Division of Houswork Cooking Laundry Washing dishes  Standardized item alpha reliability  Marital Satisfaction Felt irritated with wife's behavior Wished wife talked more about feelings Had arguments with wife Wished wife understook you better Wished wife more aware of your needs  Standardized item alpha reliability  Depression Felt very alone Felt down, low in spirits Personal worries affected you physically Felt sad Felt lonely, even among friends	0.78
Bothered by heart beating hard Hands trembling enough to bother Took medicine/drugs when tense, worried or nervous  Standardized item alpha reliability  Nontraditional Division of Houswork Cooking Laundry Washing dishes  Standardized item alpha reliability  Marital Satisfaction Felt irritated with wife's behavior Wished wife talked more about feelings Had arguments with wife Wished wife understook you better Wished wife more aware of your needs  Standardized item alpha reliability  Depression Felt very alone Felt down, low in spirits Personal worries affected you physically Felt sad	0.78



Table 3: Path Coeffficients (Standardized Beta Coefficients) Depicting the Relationship Between Exogenous and Endogenous Variables and Among Endogenous Variables

Independent Variables	NonTraditional Division of Housework	Marital Satisfaction	Depression	Depression (Reduced Model)
Exogenous variable:				
Wife's employment status	.187***	035	003	
Age	142*	.256***	157**	136**
Education	220**	167**	086	
Relative education	024	.062	.140**	.157**
Number of children	043	013	.014	
Family income	029	.110	086	
Health status	.087	.176**	307***	332***
Endogenous variable: Nontraditional Division				
of housework	,	.009	053	
Marital satisfaction	,		208***	211***
R2	.070	.143	.219	.209
*p = .05 $**p = .01$	***p = .001			

#### **Statistical Techniques**

The proposed model will be examined by path analysis; an ordinary-least-squares technique used on causal models which are derived from previous research and theoretical considerations (Pedhazur, 1982). Even though longitudinal data is the ideal for better understanding of dynamic relationships, the literature review provides theoretical justifications for using the 1979 Chicano Survey data, which is cross-sectional data. Appendix A provides the correlation matrix showing the relationship between the variables in the model.

#### **Findings**

The first question is do Mexican-American males, whose wives are employed outside the home, provide their wives more help with household tasks? As hypothesized, they do. A wife's employment status has a significant positive effect (b = .187) on the nontraditional division of household chores. This is consistent with Ybarra's (1988) and Saenz's (1989) finding that working Chicanas expect and get more help with their domestic responsibilities from their spouses. Whether women can bargain for help, because of paid employment, or whether

men will feel compelled to relieve their working wives of some of the household tasks, can only be concluded by the impact this activity has on their psychological wellbeing. Only two control variables, age (b = -.142) and education (b = -.220) are significantly and negatively associated with nontraditional division of household chores. Older and more educated males are less likely to engage in an egalitarian division of household tasks. The education results are not consistent with the previous findings (Farkas, 1976; Perrucci, et al. 1978) that a greater education makes for more egalitarian unions. Perhaps higher educational attainment for Mexican-American men translates into more demanding jobs that allow less time for participation in home activities or perhaps higher education accords a higher prestige that is inconsistent with participation in domestic chores. However, the effect of age is in accord with previous research. Older people have been found to be more traditional in sex role division of labor orientation. Also, older men may feel less inclined to help either because older children are available to share the burden or because children are no longer in the household and the household burden is not considered undue.



INDEPENDENT VARIABLE	Total Effect	DEPENDENT VARIABLE Direct Effect	Indirect Effect	
	Nontraditional Division of Housework			
Relative Education	024	024		
Wife Employment Status	.187	.187		
Number of Children	043	043		
Health Status	.087	.087		
Age	142	142		
Family Income	029	029		
Education	220	220	,	
		MARITAL SATISFACTION		
Relative Education	.062	.062	000	
Wife Employment Status	033	035	.002	
Number of Children	013	013	000	
Health Status	.177	.176	.001	
Age	.255	.256	001	
Family Income	.110	.110	000	
Education	169	167	002	
Nontraditional Division of Housework	.009	.009		
		DEPRESSION		
Relative Education	.128	.140	012	
Wife Employment Wtatus	006	003	003	
Number of Children	.019	.014	.005	
Health Status	348	307	041	
Age	202	157	045	
Family Income	107	086	021	
Education	030	017	.047	
Nontraditional Division of Housework	055	053	002	
Marital Satisfaction	208	208		

The second question focuses on the effect, if any, that nontraditional division of household chores has on marital satisfaction. The analysis does not support the predicted relationship. Nontraditional division of household chores is not significantly related to marital satisfaction. The relationship between the two variables, though in the predicted direction (b = -.035), is not statistically significant. Two control variables have a significant positive effect on marital satisfaction. First, age (b = .256) indicates that as men age they become more satisfied with their marriage. This is consistent with previous findings for the general population. Second, as expected health status (b = .256)

.176) is a significant factor in marital satisfaction. A healthy individual is more likely to be satisfied with life in general and more willing to work at a relationship. A third control variable, education (b = -.167) has significant negative relationship to marital satisfaction. Perhaps the more educated males have higher expectations for marital relationships and tend to be less satisfied with their relationships. Or as indicated earlier, higher levels of education may translate into occupations that require more time and commitment to the occupations which take away from family involvement and add to marital dissatisfaction.



Finally, the third question was whether men whose wives worked and were involved in nontraditional division of household tasks would experience higher levels of depression. Apparently not. The analysis indicates that though the relationships are in the predicted direction (negative), neither variable is statistically significant in predicting to male depression. Perhaps, as Ross et al. (1983c) suggest, Mexican-American males are embedded in larger family networks which buffer them from the negative effects of working wives. Others, in the network, proxy for the working wife. On the other hand, marital satisfaction, the other exogenous variable, has a negative (b = -.208) statistically significant effect on depression. Apparently a working wife who expects and gets extra help with household tasks has no significant effect on male depression, but marital satisfaction does. Satisfaction with one's marital situation has a very positive effect in lowering the levels of reported depression.

Three control variables are also related to depression. First, age (b = -.157) has a significant negative impact on depression. This finding is consistent with previous studies on the relationship between age and depression. Older men reporting lower levels of depression than their younger counterparts (Ross, et al. 1983b). Older Mexican-American men are more likely to be imbedded in the traditional culture with its inherent social support systems than younger Chicanos. The social support system provides assistance when problems arise and may thus counter depression. Or perhaps age provides individuals with a wider repertoire of solutions to problems that plunge younger men into higher levels of depression.

Second, health status has a significant negative effect (b = -.307) on depression. As expected, a healthy profile may serve as a deterrent to depression. Individuals who enjoy good health are less likely to report higher levels of depression. Third, husband's education relative to the wife's education (b = .140) has a significant and positive association with depression. It may be that the disparity in levels of education between partners fosters conflict and friction which lead to depression.

The model explained a very low degree (R2 = 7.0% of the variance) of nontraditional division of household tasks and marital satisfaction (R2 = 14.3%). Perhaps variables not included in the model have greater explanatory power. The variables in the model explained 21.9% of the variance in depression.

#### **Reduced Model**

Because some of the control variables did not prove to be statistically significant, a more parsimonious model may be equally adequate to predict depression. This was the case. Areduced model using only the three exogenous variables (age, relative education and health status) significantly related to depression and the endogenous variable (marital satisfaction) were used to predict depression. The more parsimonious model was not significantly different from the more complex one. The first model with nine variables explained 21.9% of the variance in depression while the more compact model with only four variables explained 20.9% of the variance in depression.

#### Discussion

The analyses show mixed results for the model. Mexican-American men do help their working wives with household tasks. The egalitarian orientation first reported, but misinterpreted, by Tharp et al. (1968) in migrant families and restated by others (Cromwell and Ruiz, 1979; Baca Zinn, 1980; Staples and Mirandé, 1980) is confirmed. In contrast to previous findings (Ross, et al. 1983b; Rosenfield, 1980) participation in nontraditional household tasks does not have a negative effect on marital satisfaction. Neither does it contribute to higher levels of depression.

The contention that tradition-bound Mexican-American men would be adversely affected by labor force participation of their wives was not supported. There are several possible explanations. First, as an economically disadvantaged minority, Mexican-American males have long recognized and valued the economic contribution women bring to the family's economic well-being. The relief from economic hardship that the added wages bring may neutralize any negative psychological consequences of a working wife. Second, perhaps as Keith et al. (1981) report, man's self-esteem is independent of household tasks involvement and wife's employment status. Finally, Segura (1988) offers another plausible explanation: it is the man who determines the appropriate "economic threshold" that in turns determines whether the wife will seek outside employment. Thus, wife's employment is still at the discretion of the man. The patriarchal tradition has not been compromised; it has only been extended.



In conclusion, the study examined the impact of changing sex roles within the Mexican-American population in the Southwest and Chicago. The results indicate that to some extent Mexican-American men react to changing social conditions much the same as dominant population males. They adapt. Some cultural differences

in family structures do exist. More empirical research is needed before we indiscriminately superimpose findings from Anglo populations to ethnic populations or generalizing from specific Mexican-American communities to the whole Mexican-American population.

#### References -

- Amaro, Hortensia, Nancy Felipe Russo and Julie Johnson. 1987. "Family and Work Predictors of Psychological Well-Being Among Hispanic Women Professionals." Psychology of Women Quarterly. 11:505-521.
- Aneshensel, Carol S., Ralph R. Frerichs, and George J. Huba. 1984. "Depression and Physical Illness: A Multiwave, Nonrecursive Causal Model." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior.* 25:350-371.
- Arce, Carlos H. 1985. *Mexican Origin People in the United States: The 1979 Chicano Survey*. Ann Arbor, Michigan: Inter-University Consortium for Political and Social Research.
- Baca Zinn, Maxinne. 1980a. "Gender and Ethnic Identity Among Chicanos." *Frontiers*. 5:18-24.
- Baca Zinn, Maxinne. 1980b. "Employment and Education of Mexican-American Women: the Interplay of Modernity and Ethnicity in Eight Families." *Harvard Educational Review.* 50(February):47-62.
- Bean, Frank and Marta Tienda. 1987. *The Hispanic Population of the United States*. Russell Sage Foundation: New York.
- Bean, Frank, Russell L. Curtis, Jr. and John P. Marcum. 1977. "Familism and Marital Satisfaction Among Mexican-Americans: The Effects of Family Size, Wife's Labor Force Participation, and Conjugal Power." *Journal of Marriage and the Family*. 39:754-767.
- Blackwelder, Julia Kirk. 1984. Women of the Depres sion. College Station: Texas A&M University Press.
- Blood, R.A. and D.M. Wolfe. 1960. *Husbands and Wives: The Dynamics of Married Living*. New York: The Free Press.
- Booth, A. 1979. "Does Wives' Employment Cause Stress For Husbands?" *The Family Coordinator.* 28:445-449.

- Burke, R. and T. Weir. 1976. "Relationship of Wives' Employment Status to Husband, Wife and Pair Satisfaction and Performance." *Journal of Marriage and the Family.* 38:279-287.
- Cooney, Rosemary Santana. 1975. "Changing Labor Force Participation of Mexican-American Wives: A Comparison With Anglos and Blacks." *Social Science Quarterly*. 56:252-261.
- Cromwell, R.A. and R.A. Ruiz. 1979. "The Myth of Macho Dominance in Decision-Making Within Mexican and Chicano Families." *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*. 1(April):355-373.
- Ericksen, J.A., W.L. Yancey, and E.P. Ericksen. 1979. "The Division of Family Roles." *Journal of Mar-riage and the Family*. 37(May):301-313.
- Farkas, G. "Education, Wage Rates and the Division of Labor Between Husband and Wife." *Journal of Mar-riage and the Family.* 38:473-483.
- Farrell, Janice, and Kyriakos Markides. 1985. "Marriage and Health: A Three-Generation Study of Mexican-Americans." *Journal of Marriage and the Family*. 47:1029-1036.
- Gonzalez, Judith Teresa. 1988. "Dilemmas of the High-Achieving Chicana: The Double-Bind Factor in Male/Female Relationships." *Sex Roles*. 18:367-380.
- Gore, Susan, and Thomas W. Mangione. 1983. "Social Roles, Sex Roles, and Psychological Distress: Additive and Interactive Models of Sex Differences." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior.* 24:300-312.
- Gove, Wallace and Micheal Geerken. 1977. "The Effects of Children and Employment on the Mental Health of Married Men and Women." *Social Forces.* 56:66-76.
- Hawkes, Glenn R., and Minna Taylor. 1975. "Power Structure in Mexican and Mexican-American Farm Labor Families." *Journal of Marriage and the Family*. 37:807-811.



- Hawley, P. and B. Even. 1982. "Work and Sex-Role Attitudes in Relation to Education and Other Characteristics." *Vocational Guidance Quarterly.* 31:101-108.
- Hartzler, K. and N. Franco. 1985. "Ethnicity, Division of Household Tasks, and Equity in Marital Roles: A Comparison of Anglo and Mexican-American Couples." Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences. 7:333-344.
- Heckman, N.A., R. Bryson, and J. Bryson. 1977. "Problems of Professional Couples: A Content Analysis." *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 39:323-330.
- Hornung, Carlton A., and B. Claire McCullough. 1981. "Status Relationships in Dual-employment Marriages: Consequences for psychological well-being." Journal of Marriage and the Family, 43:125-141.
- Keith, Pat M., Willis J. Goudy, and Edward A. Powers. 1981. "Employment Characteristics and Psychological Well-Being of Men in Two-Job Families." *Psy-chological Reports*, 49:975-978.
- Keith, Pat M. and Robert B. Schafer. 1980. "Role Strain in Two-Job Families." *Family Relations*, 29:483-488.
- Keith, Pat M. and Robert B. Schafer. 1982. "Employment Status, Household Involvement, and Psychological Well-Being of Men and Women." *International Jour-nal of Sociology of the Family*, 12:101-110.
- Kessler, Ronald and James McRae. 1982 "The Effects of Wives' Employment on the Mental Health of Married Men and Women." *American Sociological Review*, 47:216-227.
- Kessler, Ronald and James McRae. 1981. "Trends in the Relationship Between Sex and Psychological Distress: 1957-1976." *American Sociological Review*, 46:442-452.
- Krause, Neal and Kyriakos S. Markides. 1985. "Employment and Psychological Well-Being in Mexican-American Women." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 26:15-26.
- Markides, Kyriakos and Sally Vernon. 1984. "Aging, Sex-role Orientation, and Adjustment: A Three Generational Study of Mexican-Americans." *Journal of Gerontology*, 39(5):586-591.

- Melville, Margarita. 1988. "Mexican Women In The U.S. Wage Labor Force." Pp. 1-11 in *Mexicanas At Work In The United States Margarita Melville*, ed. Houston: University of Houston.
- Oakley, A. 1974. *The Sociology of Housework*. New York: Pantheon Books.
- Ortiz, Vilma and Rosemary Santana-Cooney. 1984. "Sex Role Attitudes and Labor Force Participation Among Young Hispanic Females and Non-Hispanic White Females." *Social Science Quarterly*. 65:392-400.
- Pedhazur, Elazar J. 1982. *Multiple Regression in Behav-ioral Research: Explanation and Prediction.* (2nd edition). New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston.
- Perrucci, Carolyn C., Harry R. Potter, and Deborah L. Rhoads. 1978. "Determinants of Male Family-role Performance." *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, 3:53-66.
- Pescatello, Ann M. 1976. *Power and Pawn: The Female in Hispanic Families, Societies and Cultures.* Westport, Conn.: Greenwood Press.
- Pleck, J.H. 1979. "Men's Family Work: Three Perspectives and Some New Data." *Family Coordinator*, 28:481-488.
- Rapaport, R.N. and R. Rapaport. 1978. "Dual-career Families: Progress and Prospects." *Marriage and Family Review*, 1(5):1-12.
- Roberts, Robert E. and Stephen J. O'Keefe. 1981. "Sex Differences in Depression Reexamined." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 22:394-400.
- Roberts, Robert E. and Catherine Roberts. 1982. "Marriage, Work, and Depressive Symptoms Among Mexican-Americans." *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, 4:199-221.
- Rosenfield, S. 1980. "Sex Differences in Depression: Do Women Always Have Higher Rates?" *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 21:33-42.
- Ross, Catherine E., John Mirowsky, and William C. Cockerham. 1983a. "Social Class, Mexican Culture, and Fatalism: Their Effects on Psychological Distress." *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 11:383-399.



- Ross, Catherine E., John Mirowsky, and Joan Huber. 1983b. "Dividing Work, Sharing Work, and In-Between: Marriage Patterns and Depression." *American Sociological Review*, 48:809-823.
- Ross, Catherine E., John Mirowsky, and Patricia Ulbrich. 1983c. "Distress and the Traditional Female Role: A Comparison of Mexicans and Anglos." *American Journal of Sociology*, 86:670-682.
- Saenz, Rogelio, Willis J. Goudy, and Frederick O. Lorenz. 1989. "The Effects of Employment and Marital Relations on Depression Among Mexican-American Women." *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 51:239-251.
- Safilios-Rothschild, Constantina. 1970. "The Influence of the Wife's Degree of Work Commitment Upon Some Aspects of Family Organization and Dynamics." *Jour* nal of Marriage and the Family, 32:681-691.
- Scanzoni, J. and G.L. Fox. 1980. "Sex Roles, Family and Society: The Seventies and Beyond." *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, (November):743-756.
- Segura, Denise. 1988. "Familism and Employment Among Chicanas and Mexican Immigrant Women." Pp. 24-32 in *Mexicanas At Work In The United States*. Margarita Melville, ed. Houston: University of Houston.
- Seiber, Sam D. 1974. "Toward a Theory of Role Accumulation." *American Sociological Review*, 39:567-78.
- Shannon, Lyle W. and Judith McKim. 1974. "Mexican-American, Negro, and Anglo Improvement in Labor Force Status Between 1960 and 1979 in a Midwestern Community." *Social Science Quarterly*, 55:91-111.
- Snipp, C. Matthew and Marta Tienda. 1984. "Mexican-American Occupational Mobility." *Social Science Quarterly*, 65: 364-380.
- Stafford, R., E. Backman, and P. Dibona. 1977. "The Division of Labor Among Cohabiting and Married Couples." *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 39"43-57.
- Stanfield, Jacqueline B. 1985. "Research on Wife/Mother Role Strain in Dual Career Families: Its Present State Laid an Adequate Basis for Representative Empirical Studies." *American Journal of Economics and Sociology*, 44:355-364.

- Staples, R. and A. Mirande. 1980. "Racial and Cultural Variations Among Families: A Decennial Review of Literature on Minority Families." *Journal of Mar-riage and the Family*. (November):887-903.
- Tharp, Roland G. Arnold Meadow, Susan G. Lennhoff, and Donna Satterfield. 1968. "Changes in Marriage Roles Accompanying the Acculturation of the Mexican-American Wife." *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 30:404-412.
- Tickamyer, Ann R. 1979. "Women's Role and Fertility Intentions." *Pacific Sociological Review*, 22:167-187.
- U.S. Bureau of the Census. 1983. *General Social and Economic Characteristics: United States Summary*. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Commerce.
- Vega, William, George Warheit, Joanne Buhl-Auth, and Kenneth Meinhart. 1984. "The Prevalence of Depressive Symptoms Among Mexican-Americans and Anglos." *American Journal of Epidemiology* 120:592-607.
- Welch, S. and A. Booth. 1977. "The Effect of Employment on the Health of Married Women with Children." *Sex Roles*, 3:385-397.
- Wells, J.A. and D. Strickland. 1982. "Physiogenic Bias as Invalidity in Psychiatric Symptom Scales." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 23:235-252.
- Wheaton, B. 1980. "The Sociogenesis of Psychological Disorder: An Attributional Theory." *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 21:100-124.2
- Williams, Norma. 1990. *The Mexican-American Family: Tradition and Change.* New York: General Hall, Inc.
- Ybarra, Lea. 1982. "When Wives Work: Impact on the Chicano Family." *Journal of Marriage and the Fam-ily*, 44(February):169-178.
- Ybarra, Lea. 1988. "Separating Myth from Reality: Socioeconomic and Cultural Influences on Chicanas and the World of Work." Pp. 12-23 in *Mexicanas At Work In The United States*. Margarita Melville, ed. Houston: University of Houston.



#### **Endnotes**

- 1. Previous research has shown these control variables are related to the exogenous variables in the model.
  - a. *Age*: Research has shown that older people tend to have more traditional sex role orientations (Tickamyer 1979), with the result that women may do more housework. Furthermore, older individuals tend to experience more positive marital relationships (Bean et al. 1977). Age also tends to be related to psychological well-being, but the direction of the relationship is unclear (Ross et al. 1983c; Vega et al. 1984).
  - b. *Education:* better educated husbands tend to have more egalitarian relationships with their spouses ( ); lower levels of marital satisfaction ( ); and lower levels of depression ( ).
  - c. *Children:* number of children seems to have a negative impact on amount of help husbands render (Perrucci et al. 1978); in addition number of children at home also has a negative impact on marital satisfaction (Bean et al. 1977).
  - d. *Husband's Education Relative to his Wife's*: women who are better educated than their husbands may obtain more help from them with household chores; in addition, a husband's lower level of education may create marital problems and psychological discomfort (Hornung and McCullough 1981).
  - e. *Family Income*: higher incomes allow couples to hire outside help (Safilious-Rothschild 1970) reducing the amount of chores the couple need to do. Higher incomes is likely to have positive effects on marital harmony because economic security may reduce marital conflict. In addition, research has shown income to be negatively related to depression (Gore and Mangione 1983).
  - f. *Ill-Health Status*: Ill health has negative effect on marital satisfaction (Farrell and Markides 1985); it also has positive effects on depression (Aneshensel et al. 1984). In addition, ill health status is needed as control variable because psychological distress scales frequently have a physiogenic bias (Wells and Strickland 1982).

